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STATEMENT OF FACTS:
A. Procedural History:
A Criminal Complaint was filed against Ken Miller on November 18, 2011,

charging him with aiding and abetting an international kidnapping in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1204 and 18 U.S.C. § 2. A copy of the Complaint is attached hereto as
Exhibit “A”. On December 15, 2011, a one count Indictment was filed against
Ken Miller accusing him of violating 18 U.S.C. § 1204 and 18 U.S.C. § 2.
Ken Miller has filed a Motion to Dismiss. This Brief is filed in support of
that Motion.

B. Statement of the Facts:
In the fall of 2003, following the break-down of the relationship between
Lisa Miller and Janet Jenkins, Lisa Miller and IMJ moved to Virginia. Complaint
p. 2 ¶ 5. In November 2003, Lisa Miller moved to dissolve her civil union with
Janet Jenkins in family court in Rutland, Vermont, and a lengthy litigation process
began over custody of IMJ. Complaint p. 2 ¶¶ 6-9. The government alleges that
Ken Miller and Tim Miller helped Lisa Miller and her daughter, I.M.J., travel from
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Virginia to Nicaragua on or about September 22, 2009.1 See generally Complaint.
Nearly two months later, on November 20, 2009, the Vermont court awarded
custody of IMJ to Janet Jenkins. Complaint p. 2 ¶ 9. The Complaint does not allege
that Ken Miller violated this court order in any way, as his alleged assistance of
Lisa Miller occurred before the custody order was entered.
The Complaint reveals that—at all relevant times—Ken Miller was an
ordained Mennonite minister living in Stuarts Draft, Virginia. Complaint p. 4 ¶ 17.
The Complaint does not allege that Ken Miller committed any illegal act within the
District of Vermont, or that he even set foot in Vermont at any time.

Although they share the same last name, Ken Miller, Timothy Miller and Lisa
Miller are not related to each other.

1

2
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QUESTIONS PRESENTED:
A.

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE
ONE COUNT INDICTMENT WHERE KEN MILLER
IS ACCUSED OF AIDING AND ABETTING AN
INTERNATIONAL KIDNAPPING BY HELPING LISA
MILLER TRAVEL OUTSIDE THE COUNTRY WITH
HER DAUGHTER, AND WHERE IT WAS NOT
ILLEGAL FOR LISA MILLER TO LEAVE THE
COUNTRY AS SHE STILL HAD CUSTODY AT THE
TIME?
(Suggested Answer: Yes.)

B.

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD DISMISS THIS
CASE FOR IMPROPER VENUE WHERE THE
GOVERNMENT HAS NOT ALLEGED THAT KEN
MILLER COMMITTED ANY UNLAWFUL ACTION
WITHIN THE DISTRICT OF VERMONT, OR THAT
HE EVEN SET FOOT IN THIS DISTRICT AT ANY
TIME?
(Suggested Answer: Yes.)

3
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ARGUMENT:
A. This Court should dismiss the Indictment for failure to state an
offense.
1. Ken Miller could not have aided and abetted an international
kidnapping because it was completely legal for Lisa Miller to
travel to Nicaragua with her daughter.
In the fall of 2003, following the break-down of the relationship between

Lisa Miller and Janet Jenkins, Lisa Miller and I.M.J. moved to Virginia. Complaint
p. 2 ¶ 5. In November 2003, Lisa Miller moved to dissolve her civil union with
Janet Jenkins in family court in Rutland, Vermont, and a lengthy litigation process
began over custody of I.M.J. Complaint p. 2 ¶¶ 6-9. The Government alleges that
Ken Miller and Tim Miller helped Lisa Miller and her daughter, I.M.J., travel from
Virginia to Nicaragua on or about September 22, 2009.2 See generally Complaint.
Nearly two months later, on November 20, 2009, the Vermont court awarded
custody to Janet Jenkins. Complaint p. 2 ¶ 9. The Complaint does not allege that
Ken Miller violated this court order in any way, as his alleged assistance of Lisa
Miller occurred before the custody order was entered.

Although they share the same last name, Ken Miller, Timothy Miller and Lisa
Miller are not related to each other.

2

4

Case 2:11-cr-00161-wks Document 22

Filed 02/29/12 Page 10 of 26

Under these facts, Ken Miller could not have assisted Lisa Miller in
kidnapping her daughter because there was no kidnapping. At the time that he
allegedly assisted Lisa Miller in leaving the U.S.—September of 2009—it was
perfectly legal for her to do so. The Vermont court decision was not handed down
until nearly two months later. Thus, when Lisa Miller left the country, there was no
order in place that she could have violated.
In order to survive a motion to dismiss, the Government must have a prima
facie case that the elements of the statute are met. An indictment must contain a
“plain, concise, and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the
offense charged.” Fed. R. Crim. P. 7. An indictment must first contain “the
elements of the offense charged and fairly inform[] a defendant of the charge
against which he must defend, and, second, enable[] him to plead an acquittal or
conviction in bar of future prosecutions for the same offense.” Hamling v. United
States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974). See also United States v. Pirro, 212 F.3d 86, 92
(2d Cir. 2000).
Ken Miller is charged with aiding and abetting, 18 U.S.C. § 2, Lisa Miller in
violation of the International Parental Kidnapping Crime Act (“IPKCA”), 18
U.S.C. § 1204. The IPKCA provides:
5
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(a)

Whoever removes a child from the United States,
or
attempts to do so, or retains a child (who has been
in the United States) outside the United States with
intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of parental
rights shall be fined under this title or imprisoned
not more than 3 years, or both.

(b)

As used in this section—

(1)

the term “child” means a person who has not
attained the age of 16 years; and

(2)

the term “parental rights”, with respect to a child,
means the right to physical custody of the child—

(A)

whether joint or sole (and includes visiting rights);
and

(B)

whether arising by operation of law, court order, or
legally binding agreement of the parties.

18 U.S.C. § 1204. Therefore, to establish its case, the Government is required to
prove: (1) that the Defendant had previously been in the United States; (2) that the
Defendant took the child from the United States to another country (or kept the
child from returning to the United States from another country); and (3) that the
Defendant acted with the intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of the parental rights
of the other parent. United States v. Miller, 626 F.3d 682, 688 (2d Cir. 2010).

6
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However, “the IPKCA does not generally prohibit relocation of children or
even make it significantly more difficult to do so. It simply prohibits relocation in
one very narrow circumstance, where to do so would violate the custodial rights of
the other parent.” United States v. Amer, 110 F.3d 873, 884 n. 1 (2d Cir. 1997).
Here, Lisa Miller traveled to Nicaragua with her daughter when it was completely
legal for them to travel—before custody was awarded to Janet Jenkins. Because
Lisa Miller was allowed to travel, Ken Miller violated no law by allegedly
assisting her in making travel arrangements.

2. Janet Jenkins had no parental rights over IMJ in Virginia, the
state where IMJ lived for six years before Lisa Miller and IMJ
travelled outside the United States.
In addition, the Indictment fails because it focuses on the law of Vermont,
not Virginia—the state where IMJ had resided for six years by the time Lisa Miller
and IMJ travelled to Nicaragua. Congress has made clear that “parental rights”
under the IPKCA are defined by State law, in accordance with the Hague
Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Parental Child Abduction. H.R.
REP. 103-390, at 4, 1993 WL 484756, 3, 1993 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2419, 2422. The
IPKCA must be interpreted as to not “detract from [t]he Hague Convention.” 18
7
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U.S.C. § 1204(d). Accordingly, as under the Hague Convention, parental rights are
“defined by ‘the law of the State in which the child was habitually resident
immediately before the removal or retention.’” Amer, 110 F.3d at 878 (quoting
Article 3(a), Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Parental
Child Abduction, 19 I.L.M. 1501, T.I.A.S. No. 11670 (1980) (entered into force
July 1, 1988) (emphasis added)). If the child’s “habitual residence is a State which
has more than one territorial unit, the custody rights laws of the territorial unit
apply.” Feder v. Evans-Feder, 63 F.3d 217, 221-22 (3d Cir. 1995) (citing Hague
Convention, art. 31). The “territorial units” in the United States are the individual
states, and “the law in force in the state in which the child was habitually resident .
. . would apply to determine whether a removal or retention was wrongful.” Id. at
222 n.8.
Applying the Hague Convention to the IPKCA, the Second Circuit held in
Amer that a child living in the state of New York for eight years had “habitually
resided” in New York. Amer, 110 F.3d at 878. Thus, the Second Circuit held that
New York law applied to determine whether any parental rights were violated. Id.
See also Diorinou v. Mezitis, 237 F.3d 133, 140 (2d Cir. 2001) (applying New
York law because New York was “habitual residence”); Armiliato v. Zaric8
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Armiliato, 169 F. Supp. 2d 230, 237-39 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (defining “law of the
State” within the United States to mean New York law in discussion of whether
child resided in the United States or Italy). Here, the Government alleges that IMJ
moved to Virginia with her mother Lisa Miller in the fall of 2003, and that Lisa
Miller and I.M.J. did not travel to Nicaragua until six years later on September 22,
2009. Complaint p. 2. Nevertheless, the Government relies on Vermont custody
orders to establish Janet Jenkins’ parental rights. Under Amer, this is clearly
defective.
The “parental rights” in this case are determined by Virginia law—where
IMJ has “habitually resided” since 2003—as opposed to Vermont law. Under
Virginia law, Janet Jenkins could have no parental or custody rights to I.M.J., for
“a civil union . . . entered into by persons of the same sex in another state or
jurisdiction shall be void in all respects in Virginia and any contractual rights
created thereby shall be void and unenforceable.” Va. Code Ann. § 20-45.3. Janet
Jenkins and Lisa Miller had entered into a civil union in Vermont prior to I.M.J.
and Lisa Miller habitually residing in Virginia. This union and any accompanying
custody rights would be void under Virginia law. Thus, for purposes of the
IPKCA, Janet Jenkins had no parental rights with which Ken Miller could have
9
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interfered by helping Lisa Miller and I.M.J. go to Nicaragua. Because Janet
Jenkins had no parental rights under the IPKCA, the charges against Ken Miller
under the IPKCA should be dismissed.
In addition, through the lens of the Hague Convention by which the IPKCA
must be viewed, the kidnapping of the child must be “in breach of the petitioner’s
custody rights under the law of the State of habitual residence,” and the petitioner
must have been “exercising those rights at the time of the removal or retention.”
Gitter v. Gitter, 396 F.3d 124, 130-31 (2d Cir. 2005). Here, Janet Jenkins also was
not exercising her rights at the time IMJ left the country. Because Janet Jenkins did
not have custody rights she was exercising at the time of removal, there were no
rights with which Ken Miller could have interfered under IPKCA. Therefore, the
charges against Ken Miller should be dismissed.

B. This Court should dismiss this case for improper venue.
1. The Government has not alleged that Ken Miller committed a
single act within the District of Vermont.
The Government has charged Ken Miller in the District of Vermont for
allegedly helping a mother and child in Virginia travel to Nicaragua. See generally
10
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Complaint. Under the facts set out in the Complaint, Ken Miller—at all relevant
times—was an ordained Mennonite minister living in Stuarts Draft, Virginia.
Complaint p. 4 ¶ 17. Because the Government has not alleged that he committed
any act, much less an illegal act, in Vermont, this Court should dismiss this case
for improper venue.
Since the founding of our nation, the Constitution has protected those
charged with a crime by preventing the Government from prosecuting them in a
remote jurisdiction. The colonists rightly complained in the Declaration of
Independence that the King of Great Britain was “transporting us beyond Seas to
be tried” in Great Britain. The Declaration of Independence ¶ 3 (U.S. 1776). Our
founders considered this right so important that they placed it in Constitution twice.
Article III, Section 2 provides, “The Trial of all Crimes, except in Cases of
Impeachment, shall be by Jury; and such Trial shall be held in the State where the
said Crimes shall have been committed…” U.S. Const. art. III, § 2, cl. 3. Likewise,
the Sixth Amendment states, “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy
the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district
wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been
previously ascertained by law…” U.S. Const. Amend. VI. Because Ken Miller
11
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committed no crime in the State of Vermont, his prosecution here violates both
provisions. See also Fed. R. Crim. P. 18 (“Except as otherwise permitted by statute
or these rules, the prosecution shall be had in a district in which the offense was
committed.”).
When venue is not specified by the criminal statute, it is determined by the
nature of the crime alleged and the location of the criminal act. United States v.
Cabrales, 524 U.S. 1, 6-7 (1998). Because intent, or mens rea, is not conduct, the
intent elements of an offense are irrelevant to venue considerations. See United
States v. Ramirez, 420 F.3d 134, 144-45 (2d Cir. 2005) (“[W]e conclude that
‘having devised or intending to devise a scheme or artifice to defraud’. . . is not an
essential conduct element for purposes of establishing venue.”); United States v.
Perlitz, 728 F.Supp.2d 46, 54 (D. Conn. 2010) (defendant was charged in
Connecticut with traveling in foreign commerce for the purpose of engaging in
sexual activities with minors, but because accused merely formed intent in
Connecticut but performed the acts in another location, venue was improper in
Connecticut). In addition, conduct in preparation for an offense is irrelevant. See
Ramirez, 420 F.3d at 141 (preparatory conduct of filing government immigration
forms that ultimately resulted in fraud could not make district were forms were
12
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filed proper venue); United States v. Beech-Nut Nutrition Corp., 871 F.2d 1181,
1190 (2d Cir. 1989) (“[W]e find no authorization in § 3237 for venue in a district
whose sole connection with the offense in question is that it was a site of
preparation for the offense.”). Venue is only proper under the Constitution in a
district where the offense was actually “committed.”
When there is single criminal act, the proper venue is wherever the criminal
act occurred. Ramirez, 420 F.3d at 139. Where the offense consists of multiple
criminal acts, “a court must initially identify the conduct constituting the offense
(the nature of the crime) and then discern the location of the commission of the
criminal acts.” United States v. Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. 275, 279 (1999). For
continuing offenses, venue is proper in any district where an “essential conduct
element” of the offense takes place. Id. at 280-82. Congress has also provided that
continuing offenses may be “prosecuted in any district in which such offense was
begun, continued, or completed.” 18 U.S.C. § 3237.
As the Government has not alleged that Ken Miller committed any criminal
act in Vermont, venue is improper. “The Government bears the burden of proving,
by a preponderance of the evidence, that venue exists.” United States v. Naranjo,
14 F.3d 145, 146 (2d Cir. 1994). The Government cannot meet this burden
13
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because, as the Complaint admits, Ken Miller—at all relevant times—was in
Virginia. Complaint p. 4 ¶ 17.
No “essential conduct element” of the charges against Ken Miller even
allegedly took place in Vermont. The International Parental Kidnapping Crime Act
(“IPKCA”), 18 U.S.C. § 1204, provides that:
Whoever removes a child from the United States, or
attempts to do so, or retains a child (who has been in the
United States) outside the United States with intent to
obstruct the lawful exercise of parental rights shall be
fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 3 years,
or both.
18 U.S.C. § 1204 (emphasis added). As for aiding and abetting, 18 U.S.C. § 2
provides, “[w]hoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets,
counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is punishable as a
principal,” and “[w]hoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly
performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States, is
punishable as a principal.” 18 U.S.C. § 2.
To determine the “essential conduct elements,” courts look at “the key verbs
which define the criminal offense in the statute.” United States v. Brennan, 183
F.3d 139, 145 (2d Cir. 1999) (quoting United States v. Chestnut, 533 F.2d 40, 4647 (2d Cir. 1976)). See also Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. at 280. For 18 U.S.C. §
14
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1204, the key verbs are to “remove,” “attempt” to remove, and “retain” a child
from the United States. As to 18 U.S.C. § 2, the key verbs are to “aid,” “abet,”
“counsel,” “command,” “induce,” or “procure” an illegal act. The Government has
not alleged that Ken Miller did any of these things within the District of Vermont.
Because no “essential conduct element”—the aiding in the removal of a child—
took place in Vermont, venue is improper. See Rodriguez-Moreno, 526 U.S. at
280.
In United States v. Clenney, 434 F.3d 780, 782 (5th Cir. 2005), the Fifth
Circuit dismissed charges brought under the IPKCA in the Northern District of
Texas due to improper venue because no criminal conduct occurred in that district;
indeed, the father-Defendant was never even present there. In Clenney, fatherDefendant lived in the Southern District of Texas when he traveled with his son to
Belize to avoid giving custody over to the child’s mother who lived in the Northern
District of Texas. Id. at 781. The government argued that venue was proper in the
Northern District of Texas because the child’s primary residence was in the
Northern District and because the mother’s parental rights were affected there, and
the district court agreed with the government. Id. at 781-82.

15
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On appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed, finding that “parental rights” were
only relevant to the mens rea element, the “intent to obstruct the lawful exercise of
parental rights…” Id. As venue focuses on conduct, not intent, the location
mother’s parental rights was irrelevant. Id. at 782. The Fifth Circuit also held that it
was irrelevant that the child’s primary residence was in the Northern District of
Texas as there is no element of the offense related to the child’s residency. Id.
Because the criminal conduct took place in the Southern District of Texas (where
the father-Defendant lived when he left the country), venue was improper in the
Northern District of Texas where the father-Defendant “never set foot.” Id. See
also 2 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Crim. § 302 (4th ed.).
In this case, Clenney is directly on point. As in Clenney, Ken Miller “never
set foot” in Vermont. Clenney, 434 F.3d at 782. The fact that Janet Jenkins asserts
parental rights in Vermont is irrelevant. Because Ken Miller never committed any
criminal act in Vermont, Vermont is an improper venue.
Similarly, in United States v. Bowens, 224 F.3d 302, 313-14 (4th Cir. 2000),
venue was improper for the charge of harboring a fugitive because the essential
conduct element of the offense—the act of harboring—did not occur in the district
where charges were brought. The Fourth Circuit determined that the prevention of
16
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the fugitive’s “discovery and arrest” only related to intent, not conduct. Id.
Accordingly, venue is proper only where a defendant actually harbors or conceals a
fugitive. Id. As in Bowens, Ken Miller committed no criminal act in Vermont, and
any alleged consequences in Vermont are irrelevant.
In addition, in Cabrales, a unanimous Supreme Court held that Missouri was
not a proper venue for a money laundering charge because although the drug
money travelled from Missouri to Florida, the defendant had nothing to do with the
money until the money reached Florida. 524 U.S. at 7-8. As the Government only
alleged that the defendant committed illegal acts in Florida, it could not prosecute
her in Missouri. Id. Likewise, in this case, the Government has not alleged that
Ken Miller committed any act in Vermont, and venue is improper.
No criminal conduct even allegedly occurred in the location the Government
seeks to pursue its charges—Vermont. In the time surrounding the events of this
case, Ken Miller was in Virginia. Therefore, he cannot be charged in Vermont.
This Court should dismiss the Indictment due to lack of jurisdiction in this venue.

17
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2. Vermont is also an inappropriate venue because it lacks
“substantial contacts” with the charged offense.
Even for an offense committed in multiple districts, there must be substantial
contacts with a district in order for venue to be proper. United States v. Ramirez,
420 F.3d 134, 139 (2d Cir. 2005); United States v. Reed, 773 F.2d 477, 477 (2d
Cir. 1985). When venue may be proper in “more than one district under a
continuing offense theory, we should also ask ‘whether the criminal acts in
question bear substantial contacts with any given venue.’” Ramirez, 420 F.3d at
139 (quoting United States v. Saavedra, 223 F.3d 85, 93 (2d Cir. 2000) (internal
quotation marks omitted).
The “substantial contacts” test for determining the proper venue “takes into
account four main factors: (1) the site of the crime, (2) its elements and nature, (3)
the place where the effect of the criminal conduct occurs, and (4) suitability of the
venue chosen for accurate factfinding.” Id. (quoting Saavedra, 223 F.3d at 93). In
this case, (1) the site of Ken Miller’s alleged crime was in Virginia; (2) the
elements of his offense are aiding in the removal of a child from the U.S.; (3) he
allegedly did these acts while in Virginia; and (4) Vermont is not suitable for factfinding as the criminal conduct allegedly occurred in Virginia, most of the
18
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witnesses are in Virginia, and Lisa Miller lived with IMJ in Virginia for several
years before traveling Nicaragua.
The “substantial contacts” test also requires conduct to be committed in

the chosen venue for that venue to be proper. See, e.g., United States v.

Saavedra, 223 F.3d 85, 93 (2d Cir. 2000) (where gang’s criminal activities

spread throughout different districts and concentrated heavily in other

districts, venue was still proper for assault in aid of racketeering charge when
gang was essentially headquartered out of the district chosen by the

government, held monthly meetings and collected dues in that district, and

benefitted from conducting operations in that district). But in this case, there

was no conduct in Vermont. There was no preparatory conduct. There was no
offense conduct. Ken Miller did not hold “monthly meetings” like the gang
members in Saavedra. Ken Miller acted completely outside of Vermont.

Vermont is therefore an improper venue, and the charges against Ken Miller
must be dismissed.
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CONCLUSION:
For the foregoing reasons, Ken Miller respectfully requests that the

Indictment against him be dismissed.
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/s/ Dennis E. Boyle
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